
FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT 

NO. 2017056579501 

TO: Department of Enforcement 
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) 

RE: International Assets Advisory, LLC, Respondent 
Member Firm 
CRD No. 10645 

Pursuant to FINRA Rule 9216 of FINRA's Code of Procedure, Respondent International Assets 
Advisory, LLC ("IAA" or "the Firm") submits this Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and Consent 
(AWC) for the purpose of proposing a settlement of the alleged rule violations described below. 
This AWC is submitted on the condition that, if accepted, FINRA will not bring any future 
actions against Respondent alleging violations based on the same factual findings described 
herein. 

I. 

ACCEPTANCE AND CONSENT 

A. Respondent hereby accepts and consents, without admitting or denying the findings, and 
solely for the purposes of this proceeding and any other proceeding brought by or on 
behalf of FINRA, or to which FINRA is a party, prior to a hearing and without an 
adjudication of any issue of law or fact, to the entry of the following findings by FINRA: 

BACKGROUND 

IAA has been a FINRA member firm since 1982. IAA is located in Orlando, Florida and 
has approximately 194 registered persons and approximately 92 branch offices. IAA is a 
retail brokerage firm and operates on an independent contractor model. 

RELEVANT DISCIPLINARY HISTORY 

IAA does not have any relevant disciplinary history with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, any state securities regulators, FINRA, or any other self-regulatory 
organization. 

OVERVIEW 

From October 2014 through September 2015 (the "Relevant Period"), IAA failed to 
establish, maintain, and enforce a supervisory system, including written supervisory 
procedures ("WSPs"), reasonably designed to ensure compliance with FINRA Rule 2111 



in relation to the sale of non-traditional exchange traded products ("NT-ETPs"). I  As a 
result, during the Relevant Period, IAA violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and 3010(b) (for 
conduct prior to December 1, 2014) and FINRA Rules 3110(a), 3110(6) (for conduct on 
or after December 1, 2014) and 2010. 

FACTS AND VIOLATIVE CONDUCT 

FINRA Rule 3110(a), and its predecessor rule, NASD Rule 3010(a),2  require that "[e]ach 
member shall establish and maintain a system to supervise the activities of each 
associated person that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable 
securities laws and regulations, and with applicable FINRA rules." 

FINRA Rule 3110(b)(1), and its predecessor rule, NASD Rule 3010(b), require that 
"[e]ach member shall establish, maintain, and enforce written procedures to supervise the 
types of business in which it engages and the activities of its associated persons that are 
reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable securities laws and 
regulations, and with applicable FINRA rules." 

The reasonable-basis suitability obligation under FINRA Rule 2111 requires 

a member or associated person to have a reasonable basis to believe, based on 
reasonable diligence, that the recommendation is suitable for at least some 
investors. In general, what constitutes reasonable diligence will vary depending 
on, among other things, the complexity of and risks associated with the security or 
investment strategy and the member's or associated person's familiarity with the 
security or investment strategy. A member's or associated person's reasonable 
diligence must provide the member or associated person with an understanding of 
the potential risks and rewards associated with the recommended security or 
strategy. The lack of such an understanding when recommending a security or 
strategy violates the suitability rule.3  

FINRA Rule 2010 requires that member firms and associated persons "observe high 
standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade." A violation of 
NASD Rule 3010 or FINRA Rule 3110 also constitutes a violation of FINRA Rule 2010. 

Non-Traditional ETPs 

NT-ETPs are designed to return a multiple of an underlying index or benchmark, the 
inverse of that benchmark, or both, over only the course of one trading session — usually 
a single day. NT-ETPs typically rebalance their portfolios on a daily basis (also known 
as the "daily reset"). As a result, due to the effects of compounding of daily returns 
during the holding period, the performance of NT-ETPs over periods longer than a single 

NT-ETPs include leveraged and inverse exchange-traded notes (NT-ETNs) and funds (NT-ETFs). 
2 FINRA Rule 3110 superseded NASD Rule 3010 on December 1, 2014. 
3  FINRA Rule 2111.05(a) (Supplementary Material to Rule 2111). 
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trading session "can differ significantly from the performance ... of their underlying index 
or benchmark during the same period of time."4  Because of these risks and the 
complexity of the products, FINRA has advised broker-dealers that NT-ETPs "are 
typically not suitable for retail investors who plan to hold them for more than one trading 
session, particularly in volatile markets."5  Prospectuses for the NT-ETPs that a registered 
representative (the "RR") recommended to IAA customers warned that the products were 
risky and were intended to be daily trading tools for sophisticated investors, and should 
be actively and frequently monitored, even intra-day. 

FINRA Regulatory Notice 09-31 cautioned member firms about the need to establish a 
reasonable supervisory system "to ensure that their associated persons comply with all 
applicable FINRA and SEC rules when recommending any product, including leveraged 
and inverse ETFs," and implement written supervisory procedures that, among other 
things, require that associated persons perform appropriate suitability reviews.6  That 
Notice provided specific guidance regarding the risks and suitability concerns associated 
with NT-ETFs, and the need for a supervisory system to address those issues. The Notice 
also reminded firms that they must train registered persons about the terms, features and 
risks of all NT-ETFs that they sell. 

IAA Failed to Establish, Maintain, and Enforce a Reasonably Designed Supervisory 
System and WSPs Regarding NT-ETPs  

During the Relevant Period, IAA failed to establish, maintain, and enforce a supervisory 
system or WSPs reasonably designed to achieve compliance with FINRA's suitability 
rule as it relates to NT-ETPs. IAA's supervisory system and WSPs and were not 
reasonably tailored to address the unique features and risks associated with NT-ETPs, 
including the risks associated with holding NT-ETPs for extended periods of time. 
Specifically, although IAA's WSP's quoted from FINRA's Regulatory Notice 09-31, and 
required supervisors to conduct suitability reviews at the time of purchase, those WSPs 
provided no guidance regarding how supervisors should determine whether an NT-ETP 
was suitable for customers given the unique features and risks of those products. The 
Firm also did not have any systems in place, such as an alert or exception report, to assist 
supervisors in monitoring the holding periods for NT-ETPs. Moreover, the Firm failed to 
enforce the WSPs it had in place. Although IAA's WSPs required training for all 
registered representatives selling NT-ETPs, the Firm failed to provide formal training to 
representatives before permitting them to sell the products to customers. 

As a result of its unreasonable supervisory system and procedures, the Firm failed to 
detect the RR's unsuitable recommendations of NT-ETPs to five of his customers to 
purchase and hold 21 solicited NT-ETPs positions for an average of 327 days. The RR 
did not understand the unique features and specific risks associated with these products, 
including the risk of holding the products long-term, and, therefore, lacked a reasonable 
basis for making the recommendations. The RR's customers incurred approximately 

FINRA Regulatory Notice 09-31 (addressing NT-ETFs). 
5 1d 
6 1d. 
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$92,805.13 in losses as a result of the RR's unsuitable recommendations. 

In September 2015, IAA made the determination to prohibit all solicited purchases of 
NT-ETPs. 

By virtue of the foregoing, IAA violated NASD Conduct Rules 3010(a) and 3010(b) (for 
conduct prior to December 1, 2014) and FINRA Rules 3110(a), 3110(b) (for conduct on 
or after December 1, 2014), and 2010. 

B. Respondent also consents to the imposition of the following sanctions: 

• a censure; 
• a $30,000 fine; and 
• restitution in the amount of $92,805.13 plus interest as described below. 

Respondent agrees to pay the monetary sanctions upon notice that this AWC has been 
accepted and that such payments are due and payable. Respondent has submitted an 
Election of Payment form showing the method by which it proposes to pay the fine 
imposed. 

Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim an inability to pay, now 
or at any time hereafter, the monetary sanctions imposed in this matter. 

Restitution is ordered to be paid to the customers listed on Attachment A hereto in the 
total amount of $92,805.13, plus interest at the rate set forth in Section 6621(a)(2) of the 
Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. 6621(a)(2), from September 17, 2015 until the date 
this AWC is accepted by the National Adjudicatory Council (NAC). 

A registered principal on behalf of Respondent IAA shall submit satisfactory proof of 
payment of restitution and pre-judgment interest (separately specifying the date and 
amount of each paid to each customer listed on Attachment A) or of reasonable and 
documented efforts undertaken to effect restitution. Such proof shall be submitted by 
email to EnforcementNotice@FINRA.org  from a work-related account of the registered 
principal of IAA. The email must identify the Respondent and the case number and 
include a copy of the check, money order or other method of payment. This proof shall 
be provided by email to EnforcementNotice@FINRA.org  no later than 120 days after 
acceptance of the AWC. 

If for any reason IAA cannot locate any customer identified in Attachment A after 
reasonable and documented efforts within 120 days from the date the AWC is accepted, 
or such additional period agreed to by a FINRA staff member in writing, IAA shall 
forward any undistributed restitution and interest to the appropriate escheat, unclaimed 
property or abandoned property fund for the state in which the customer is last known to 
have resided. IAA shall provide satisfactory proof of such action to the FINRA staff 
member identified above and in the manner described above, within 14 calendar days of 
forwarding the undistributed restitution and interest to the appropriate state authority. 
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The imposition of a restitution order or any other monetary sanction herein, and the 
timing of such ordered payments, does not preclude customers from pursuing their own 
actions to obtain restitution or other remedies. 

Restitution payments to customers shall be preceded or accompanied by a letter, not 
unacceptable to FINRA staff, describing the reason for the payment and the fact that the 
payment is being made pursuant to a settlement with FINRA and as a term of this AWC. 

The sanctions imposed herein shall be effective on a date set by FINRA staff. 

II. 

WAIVER OF PROCEDURAL RIGHTS 

Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives the following rights grantcd under FINRA's 
Code of Procedure: 

A. To have a Complaint issued specifying the allegations against it; 

B. To be notified of the Complaint and have the opportunity to answer the 
allegations in writing; 

C. To defend against the allegations in a disciplinary hearing before a hearing panel, 
to have a written record of the hearing made and to have a written decision issued; 
and 

D. To appeal any such decision to the National Adjudicatory Council (NAC) and 
then to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and a U.S. Court of 
Appeals. 

Further, Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim bias or prejudgment 
of the Chief Legal Officer, the NAC, or any member of the NAC, in connection with such 
person's or body's participation in discussions regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, 
or other consideration of this AWC, including acceptance or rejection of this AWC. 

Respondent further specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim that a person violated 
the ex parte prohibitions of FINRA Rule 9143 or the separation of functions prohibitions of 
FINRA Rule 9144, in connection with such person's or body's participation in discussions 
regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, or other consideration of this AWC, including 
its acceptance or rejection. 
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OTHER MATTERS 

Respondent understands that: 

A. Submission of this AWC is voluntary and will not resolve this matter unless and 
until it has been reviewed and accepted by the NAC, a Review Subcommittee of 
the NAC, or the Office of Disciplinary Affairs (ODA), pursuant to FINRA Rule 
9216; 

B. If this AWC is not accepted, its submission will not be used as evidence to prove 
any of the allegations against Respondent; and 

C. If accepted: 

1. this AWC will become part of Respondent's permanent disciplinary 
record and may be considered in any future action brought by FINRA or 
any other regulator against Respondent; 

2. this AWC will be made available through FINRA's public disclosure 
program in accordance with FINRA Rule 8313; 

3. FINRA may make a public announcement concerning this agreement and 
the subject matter thereof in accordance with FINRA Rule 8313; and 

4. Respondent may not take any action or make or permit to be made any 
public statement, including in regulatory filings or otherwise, denying, 
directly or indirectly, any finding in this AWC or create the impression 
that the AWC is without factual basis. Respondent may not take any 
position in any proceeding brought by or on behalf of FINRA, or to which 
FINRA is a party, that is inconsistent with any part of this AWC. Nothing 
in this provision affects Respondent's: (i) testimonial obligations; or (ii) 
right to take legal or factual positions in litigation or other legal 
proceedings in which FINRA is not a party. 

D. Respondent may attach a Corrective Action Statement to this AWC that is a 
statement of demonstrable corrective steps taken to prevent future misconduct. 
Respondent understands that it may not deny the charges or make any statement 
that is inconsistent with the AWC in this Statement. This Statement does not 
constitute factual or legal findings by FINRA, nor does it reflect the views of 
FINRA or its staff. 

The undersigned, on behalf of IAA, certifies that a person duly authorized to act on its 
behalf has read and understands all of the provisions of this AWC and has been given a 
full opportunity to ask questions about it; that it has agreed to the AWC's provisions 
voluntarily; and that no offer, threat, inducement, or promise of any kind, other than the 
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Reviewed by: 

D. a ah 
unsel for Respondent 

Sallah Astarita & Cox, LLC 
3010 North Military Trail 
Suite 210 
Boca Raton, Florida 33431 

terms set forth herein and the prospect of avoiding the issuance of a Complaint, has been 
made to induce it to submit it. 

IAA's counsel certifies that he has read and understands all of the provisions of this 
AWC and has been given a full opportunity to ask questions about it; IAA has agreed to 
the AWC's provisions voluntarily; and no offer, threat, inducement, or promise of any 
kind, other than the terms set forth herein and the prospect of avoiding the issuance of a 
Complaint, has been made to induce them to submit this AWC. 

International Assets Advisory, LLC, 
Respondent 

By: , )  
Date

Print Name: \k..c\t\f,...0 (X_ L,+2:N.S.5,  

Title: CC_ 0  

Accepted by FINRA: 

1113 / 9 
Date 

(ritlYtO Tiq  
nine D. Arno 

Principal Counsel 
Department of Enforcement 
5200 Town Center Circle 
Tower 1, Suite 200 
Boca Raton, Florida 33486 
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Signed on behalf of the 
Director of ODA, by delegated authority 



Attachment A 

Account No. Restitution Amount 
Customer 1 $18,925.60 

Customer 2 $10,916.21 

Customer 3 $35,232.12 

Customer 4 $26,488.72 

Customer 5 $1,242.48 


